Who was St Neot?

Having taught History at Ernulf Community School in St Neots for a number of years I often wondered who St Neot was. Whilst on the internet one evening I did a search and found a number of interesting sites. One gave details about people's character based on their names. I don't place much trust in its accuracy but I wondered whether it could be based on the life of a real person called Neot. Before choosing the name Neot for your son it might be worth finding out what some think of its meaning.

"Your name of Neot gives you a highly sensitive, idealistic, and intuitive nature. You could be very expressive and creative in the arts, music, or drama. However, there is a lack of practicality and business judgment which could limit your success. You feel and sense much that you do not fully understand, and you can be deeply influenced through the thoughts and feelings of others without realizing just how you are being affected. Others are inclined to take advantage of your generosity and friendliness and then, when there is a lack of reciprocation, you can feel very despondent and disillusioned. Moods are a problem as you can be highly inspired one minute, and the next become quite irritated and annoyed over some ill-timed remark or lack of consideration on the part of someone close to you. You could suffer through nervous breakdowns, as well as disturbed thoughts, poor memory, or disorders in the fluid functions."

(http://www.kalabrians.com/index.html)

No wonder there's not many people called Neot today! Was the real Neot anything like that? I looked him up in the Cambridge Biographical Encyclopaedia where he was described as an Anglo-Saxon monk. When he was born was a question mark but it stated that he died in 877. 

"According to medieval legends he was a monk of Glastonbury Abbey who became a hermit in Cornwall, and is said to have been visited by Alfred the Great. His relics are thought to have been taken to St Neots in Cambridgeshire. Feast day July 31st".

(Cambridge Biographical Encyclopaedia, (1999), p.688)

That was not enough information for a story so I started to look elsewhere. The Times Atlas only had St Neots in Cambridgeshire but my Ordnance Survey road atlas of Great Britain included the small settlement of St Neot in Cornwall. However, some of the other websites show that there are two settlements in Israel called Ne'ot HaKikkar and Ne'ot Mordekhay and one in Egypt called Ne'ot Sinay. A cursory glance through them did not suggest there was any link with an Anglo-Saxon monk. 

In Farmer's Oxford Dictionary of Saints he referred to three 'Latin Lives' of St Neot and one 'Old English Life.' These references to ancient sources and others were also included in the Victoria County History's account of Eynesbury and C. F. Tebbut's history of St Neots.  I have not consulted these early sources directly as I'm not a medieval scholar and only have limited knowledge of Latin and Medieval English. I have had to rely on translations by later scholars. The first Latin account was written by Neot's followers in Cornwall, the second by the monks at Eynesbury and the third by the Norman monks after 1066. The Old English version probably used one or more of these. Each had their own story to tell and subsequent historians have based their work on these. 

In St Neot's Reference Library the oldest book I found was Rev. Whitaker's 1809 'Life of St Neot'. Most of what follows is based on his and other 19th and 20th century scholarly work. I found several internet sites for students of hagiography, the writings about the lives of the saints, but they only gave one or two lines on St Neot. Other websites I visited included Berkeley University, California's  Medieval Studies Department. From all these I found references to a number of biographies and books on medieval legends that give very obscure and often contradictory accounts of his life. What follows is an attempt to piece together the various accounts of the man after whom the town of St Neots was called. 

The earliest accounts were written by Saxon monks in the decades immediately after Neot's death. Others were Norman accounts written several hundred years later. Most claim that he was a Saxon prince who became a monk at the abbey in Glastonbury, Somerset. However, on contacting historians in Cornwall, I found that they dispute this. They believe that he was a local Cornish saint called Anietus or a name very similar, that he was born in 820 AD and died in 877. They claim that in medieval times the two similar-sounding names got confused and their legends became fused into one character. (Communication with Sue Williams, St Neot Historians) 

Some of the early history books claimed that Neot had royal blood belonging either to the East Anglian or the Wessex dynasty. Some claimed him to be the son of the King of the East Angles, the King of the West Angles or the Tetrarch of Kent. Others claim he was the son or nephew of Alfred the Great, the Saxon King who died in 899. In Rev. Whitaker's 1809 account of St Neot he identified him with Athelstan who was involved in a military campaigns against the invading Danish forces. Rev. Gorham's 19th century History of Eyneysbury and St Neots written fifteen years later, agreed adding that writers from earlier centuries were careless and ignorant conspiring that he was the son of a King named Fidulf, Eldulf, Edulph or Adulph. These, he said, were various spellings of Ethelwulph (839 - 858). 

King Ethelwulph had a number of sons, Ethelbald, Ethelbert, Ethelred and Alfred. Ethelred became King of Wessex (865-871) during whose reign the Danes launched their main invasion of England. Alfred inherited the crown in 871 and inflicted the first defeat on the Danes. However, Gorham stated that Ethelwulph’s first-born son from an earlier relationship was Athelstan who was given the Princedom of Kent. To balance the argument he pointed out that a Mr Hals asserted that Neot was Ethelwulph's youngest son. To add to the confusion the Cambridge Biographical Encyclopaedia describes Athelstan as Edward the Elder's son and Alfred's grandson  (895-939). (Whitaker, Rev. J. (1809), The Life of St Neot and the oldest of all the brothers to King Alfred, London; Gorham, Rev. G.C. (1824), A Supplement to the History and Antiquities of Eynesbury & St Neots in Huntingdonshire and of St Neot in Cornwall, London, pp. 22-25) 

Which is the true account is not easy to say but the 19th century scholars added that Athelstan won a decisive victory over the Danes at Sandwich in Kent in 851. Shortly afterwards he became disillusioned with bloody military campaigns and wanted to escape to a quieter, more religious life. To do so he renounced the world, resigned the crown of Kent to his brother Ethelbald and joined the monastery at Glastonbury Abbey in Somerset. There was no further historical record of Athelstan but in the same year King Ethelwulph gave a tract of land, together with "his body", to the abbey. This is thought to have coincided with his son's taking  holy orders. (Gorham, p. 23)

“In the flower of his youth he renounced the world, professed himself to be a Neophyte and assumed the habit of a monk of Glastonbury Abbey in the middle of the 9th century”.

(Gorham, op.cit. p. 27)

Although Gorham found it difficult to accept that the secret could have been kept for so long it was normal for both monks and nuns to be given a new name on joining a religious order. He argued that "the religious order which received him within its Cloisters would have blazoned forth to the world so splendid triumph of the faith." Another writer suggested Athelstan did not take the vows voluntarily. In 855 Ethelwulph went to Rome and, whilst he was away, his son Ethelbald siezed the government of Wessex. When his father returned Athelstan retired from motives of political expediency and devoted himself to the Monastic life. (Eclectic Review, vol. V. pt.1, p. 311) 

To avoid people knowing of his royal connections it was suggested that Athelstan asked the abbot to keep his name secret. Accordingly,  his name was changed to Neot which means "the little one" describing his diminutive stature and spiritual lowliness. Some argue that the name might have been Neotus - a contraction of neophytus  - the new-born convert. 

Once he took holy orders he was made sacristan of the Abbey but became well known for his literary attainments. He was more endeared by his deep devotion and humility. Supposedly unknown to his fellow monks he would get up at 3.00 am. and sneak into the chapel disguised as a penitent to pour out his soul. Before dawn he would resume his usual habit and join the other monks for the regular morning service at 5.30 am. From then he would continue his monastic duties and devotions until 10 pm. (Gorham, p. 28; Pearce, Ivy  (1974), The Story of the Saint of St Neots, pp.1-2)

He was said to have been called "another Zaccheus" because of his stature and chanted the mass at Glastonbury standing on an iron stool. This was kept as a relic in Glastonbury where it was still recorded at the end of the 15th century. His first miracle occurred when "a person of high rank" knocked on the abbey door whilst the monks were having an afternoon nap. No-one heard him so he kept on knocking. Neot woke up but, not having his iron stool, he could not reach the lock in the enormous wooden door. 

"At last, in great distress, the lock gradually descended to the level of his monastic girdle, so that he was enabled to open the door! The legend adds, that the lock continued long after in this position, as a testimony to the truth of the miracle."

(Gorham, op.cit. p.32)

There are inconsistencies about his time in Glastonbury. William of Malmesbury says that Neot was the disciple of Erconwald, Bishop of London about 680. Other sources stated that he studied under Abbot Dunstan, about 940; that he was  there in the time of Elpheg, Bishop of Winchester, from 935 to 951 and also during Ethelwolde's time as a later Bishop of Winchester in 963! (Gorham, p. 27-28) Whenever he was there

"The fame of his learning and effectual prayers soon spread, so that multitudes flocked to the Abbey to receive his instruction and his help and advice in things temporal and eternal.”

 (Pearce, I. op.cit)

The distraction caused by his popularity led him to leave the monastery to continue his spiritual life. He  moved away with an attendant called Barius and founded a small cell at the shrine to St Guerir or Gueryr, a Cornish hermit. The site of their cell was hidden away in a beautiful wooded valley, one of the tributaries of River Fowey, at the foot of Bodmin Moor in Cornwall. The small stream subsequently was known as St Neot's River. Monks described it as “a very fair place, a sylvan retreat, surrounded by almost impenetrable woods, embossed in the hills and well supplied with springs.”  The nearest settlement was Ham-Stoke - an Anglo-Saxon word meaning religious farmstead. (Gorham, pp.29, 230)

Whether Anietus was also a monk at Glastonbury is uncertain but there are a variety of local legends about Neot. Some traditions state he was called 'the Pygmy Saint', a dwarf. There are references to him being as small as fifteen inches tall,  not more than eighteen inches,  three feet and four feet tall! One possible explanation is that when people saw his reliquary - the box that held his bones - which was only eighteen inches long, they thought he was a dwarf. Another suggestion is that visitors to his church saw his picture in the stained glass windows at the church and thought he was the same size as the man in the window! These early sixteenth century windows, donated by the young men of the parish in 1528, are unique in that they are some of the very few pre-Reformation windows still in place. The cross base near the church door is where Neot is supposed to have stood to throw the keys at the door.

In Cardinal John Henry Newman's research into the lives of the saints he included a study of St Neot. One of his helpers was James Anthony Froude,  

"While he was composing it, he began to feel some qualms. Saints who lighted fires with icicles, changed bandits into wolves, and floated across the Irish Channel on altar-stones, produced a disturbing effect on his historical conscience. But he had promised his services to Newman, and he determined to carry through the work in the spirit in which he had begun it. He did so; but he thought it proper to add the following sentence by way of conclusion: " This is all, and indeed rather more than all, that is known to men of the blessed St. Neot; but not more than is known to the angels in heaven."
(Lytton Strachey: Eminent Victorians: Cardinal Manning: http://www.fordham.edu/halsall/mod/modsbook.html)
In art, St Neot is depicted as an old Benedictine monk with a pilgrim's staff and hat. Not only is he venerated in St Neot and St Neots but also in Glastonbury and Malvern in Worcestershire. What links he had with the latter place I have been unable to determine. (Roeder, http://users.erols.com/saintpat/ss/0731.htm) Within the twelve designs of the stained glass St Neot Window on the north side of the church are depicted various incidents from Neot's life. Books on medieval legends and the 'Lives of the Irish Saints' have added background to these stories. 

In the first, Neot is shown placing a crown on the head of either his younger brother Alfred or Ethelbald. In the second he takes his monastic vows at Glastonbury when he is seen kneeling between a monk and an abbot. The third shows him reading his psalter, book of psalms, with his feet immersed in water, a doe beside him and a huntsman giving him a horn. A story tells of Neot reciting his psalms when a frightened doe, flying through the thickets and bounding over the impassable undergrowth, fell down at his feet. By its anxious pantings Neot could tell it needed protection. When the dogs chasing it appeared in the clearing ready to tear it in pieces they saw it at Neot's feet and fled back into the wood. The huntsman who was ready to fire an arrow into the doe's heart flung down his quiver and sought counsel from Neot. From that day on the hunter became a monk at the neighbouring convent of St Petroc. His hunting horn, which he gave to Neot, hung in the church for many years afterwards. 

He was unusual in his devotion to prayer. Some stories tell of how he stood up to his neck in the cold water spring of the Holy Well by his cell while he recited the entire Book of Psalms. The spring was preserved with a stone wall and a roof but over the years it fell into disrepair. The remains are said to be still seen today in the woods not far to the west of the church but overgrown with briars, ferns and ivy. Wells and pools have had important magico-religious significance. The nearby Dozmary Pool is reputed to be in the Arthurian legend as the possible site of the sword Excalibur. 

The next five windows depict the story of the three fishes. The legends say that he received instructions from an angel about three fishes that swam in his Holy Well. As long as he ate only one a day there would always be three the next day. One time when he fell ill, Barius, his servant, went to the well and caught two fish for him. One he boiled, the other he broiled. Devastated, Neot told Barius to put them back in the well. Whilst he was away Neot prostrated himself in earnest prayer until Barius returned to tell him that when they entered the water they miraculously returned to life! When Barius went back and cooked just one of the fish Neot ate it as was restored to perfect health. The fish were supposed to have been shads, locally called “chuck chicken“, because of the number of bones in them.  

The next three tell the story of Neot and the oxen. One spring when ploughs were needed for preparing the monastery land for seeds some thieves stole the community's plough-oxen. Not worried about it Neot called some wild stags out of the wood that kindly appeared every morning to pull the ploughs until the work was done. When the thieves got to hear of this miracle they brought back the oxen, repented their sins and joined Neot's community. It was said that, forever afterwards, the stags wore a white ring, like the yoke of a plough, round their necks and, according to tradition, were protected from hunters by God. 

A number of legends link Neot with animals, rather like Francis of Assisi. One day when he was saying his psalms in the spring he heard many horsemen riding nearby. Not wanting to be seen praying he "fled in confusion to his sylvan oratory." In his haste he left a leather shoe which was taken by a hungry fox. In order that "the Saint might not be scandalized by so mean a thing"  the fox was miraculously cast into a deep sleep, "and died, having the thongs of the shoe in his vile mouth." The servant who found it got the shoe out and returned it to his master but was told not to say anything about it until after Neot died. 

Another account said that the local farm labourers were very annoyed by the crows that used to pick up the corn as soon as it was sowed. Neot used his power to banish all the crows and that any that were caught were kept in the ancient earthwork known as  “Crow Pound”  half a mile from the church. This was said to be Neot's attempt to ensure the farmers could attend church rather than claim to be out hunting crows. He is also claimed to have helped the local mining industry by telling people that “You will find tin wherever you see a white feather”. Next day the nearby slopes of Bodmin were covered with white feathers which led to the numerous trial pits out on the hillsides. 

A further incident which raised Neot's esteem amongst the local people related to a local wealthy landowner. He "compelled the inhabitants of Neot-Stoke to perform unreasonable services." One day when they were driving laden carts from the corn fields a furious hurricane blew the men, oxen and carts "like an arrow from a bow." When the landowner heard of it he was said to have interpreted it "as divine anger at his oppressive conduct." He sought out  Neot to get pardon for his sins and left to free all the tenants of the church lands from future services. (Whitaker, J. op.cit. pp.19-40, 47-50, 51-57, 59-63, 64-67; Gorham, op.cit. pp.31-37, 233-234; Folklore Myths and Legends of Britain, Readers Digest, (1977), p.142; Weatherhill, C. & Devereux, P. Myths and Legends of Cornwall, Sigma Leisure, (1994), p.37; Correspondence with Jill Thomas, St Neot Local Historians ; St Neot, Cornwall, church guide)

The last window  shows him receiving a blessing from the Pope. After seven years in retreat  “doubts began to assail his heart and mind as to whether this was the manner of life God wanted him to lead.”. To help him decide he travelled to Rome to seek counsel from Pope Adrian III (867 - 872). There he was persuaded to give up the role of hermit and “scatter the word of God among the people”.  He returned to Cornwall and established a small monastery or College of Priests of which he became their abbot. A small church was built  in the eleventh century known as St Anietus. Further evidence used to suggest he was a Cornish rather than a Saxon saint is the presence of  “the finest of all Cornish Celtic crosses in the churchyard." (Pearce, op.cit. p.2; OS Grid Square SX1867; St Neot, Cornwall, church guide)

The expansion of the Danish incursions had led King Alfred to escape London and to temporarily set up court in the marshes of Athelney in Somerset. Neot was said to have predicted this retreat as a result of Alfred's neglect of his people. Asser, the Bishop of Sherborne and contemporary of King Alfred, provided evidence that Alfred visited his half-brother for confession. In 867 Alfred left a royal hunt on Bodmin Moor to visit Neot's church. 

 “The King, having remained some time in prayer implored God to heal him of a serious disease with which he was afflicted. Shortly after leaving the Church the signs and symptoms of this disease were greatly subdued, this miracle he attributed to the sanctity of the Church in which he prayed.” 

(Pearce, op.cit pp.2-3)

Part of his claim to sainthood was said to have been his royal visits. That a king and princes should pay a visit to a humble monk raised his esteem in the eyes of his followers and the local people. Not knowing that the King was actually his half-brother they thought Neot must have been especially holy to be consulted for advice or forgiveness. Neot is said to have suggested to Alfred that the 'English School' at Rome should be revived. Like St Cuthbert, he is said to have appeared to Alfred on the eve of the battle of Ethandun against the Danes and promised to lead the king's army to victory. (Stevenson, W.H. ' (1904), Asser's Life of King Alfred together with the Annals of St Neots, Oxford, 1904, p. 257; Farmer, D.H. (1987), Oxford Dictionary of Saints, OUP,  p. 313)

The story of Alfred burning the cakes and being reproved by the herdsman’s wife is reported to have come from the Anglo-Saxon Homily on Neot. In  the 'Life of King Alfred' it reported 

"We may believe that the calamity was brought upon the king aforesaid, because, in the beginning of his reign, when he was a youth, and influenced by youthful feelings, he would not listen to the petitions which his subjects made to him for help in their necessities, or for relief from those who oppressed them; but he repulsed them from him, and paid no heed to their requests. This particular gave much annoyance to the holy man St. Neot, who was his relation, and often foretold to him, in the spirit of prophecy, that he would suffer great adversity on this account; but Alfred neither attended to the reproof of the man of God, nor listened to his true prediction. Wherefore, seeing that a man's sins must be corrected either in this world or the next, the true and righteous Judge was willing that his sin should not go unpunished in this world, to the end that he might spare him in the world to come. From this cause, therefore, the aforesaid Alfred often fell into such great misery, that sometimes none of his subjects knew where he was or what had become of him."
(THE LIFE OF KING ALFRED From A.D. 849 to A.D. 887. Part1 http://sunsite.berkeley.edu/OMACL/KingAlfred/part1.html)

Neot was said to have sharply rebuked Alfred for his ambition. He told him that he would have greater misfortunes than those afflicted upon him by the Danish invasions. Many petitions and complaints about the king had been ignored which had turned many of the people against him. 

“O King, thou shalt suffer much in this life; hereafter so much distress thou shalt abide that no man’s tongue shall say it all. Now loved child, hear me if thou wilt, and turn they heart to my counsel. Depart entirely from thine unrighteousness; thy sins with alms redeem and with tears abolish.”

(Gorham, op.cit. p.40)

Some sources claim that Alfred appointed Neot as Chair of Divinity at the newly-founded University of Oxford and that he even suggested its foundation. It was said that in the gardens of New College, Oxford, was the site of an older building known as Neot's Hall but Gorham could find no evidence to confirm this story. (Ibid. pp. 41-43)

According to the various sources Neot is reported to have died in 877,  877 - 878 and in 880. Most use the former date. His last moments were recorded:

“Having refreshed his spirit by partaking of the emblems of His Saviour’s death he addressed his own little flock, exhorting them to live in peace and he spoke much of which the salvation of the soul might be promoted. Then committing his soul to the mercy of God the Almighty, and stretching his hands towards Heaven, he breathed out his spirit singing psalms and praying.” 

(Gorham, op.cit p.45)

According to Asser, in 878, after his death, Neot is supposed to have appeared to Alfred in Athelney to administer consolation to the afflicted King. (Asser, De Reb. Gest. Lives of Neot, MSS Cott. Claud.A.V. MSS Bodleian Library, Oxford, 535) 

In 884 his followers built a larger church which was dedicated to him and his body was removed to the north side of the altar. It is thought by some that his effigy is depicted on the Alfred Jewel. It was  found in the marsh at Athelney where Alfred stayed. Made of gold, enamel and crystal it shows "the upper part of a figure holding two shafts with foliate ends." Round the edge is written AELFRED MEC HEHT GEWYRCAN  which means Alfred had me made. (Young, R. (1996), St Neots Past, Phillimore, pp.16-17) After Neot's death people came to pray at his shrine but exactly when he was beatified, made a saint, has not come to light. It must have been before the Norman invasion. 

As has been seen there are a variety of spellings for people and places in Saxon times. The earliest reference to his monastery was Nioth which was included in the 10th century list. During the reign of Edward the Confessor (1042 - 1066) it was described as having two hides of land, enough for two households. The Domesday Book  of 1086 recorded it as being called Neotesta and having a religious society known as the Clerks of St Neot. By the 11th - 12th century it was known as Neotestoce (Neot-Stoke) and regarded as a holy place. In time, after Neot was made a saint, the settlement became known as St Neot (SX 186679). 

Whilst that is the end of the Cornwall connection how is it that there is a town called St Neots in Huntingdonshire? There is archaeological evidence of a Mesolithic settlement built sometime between 10,000 and 4000BC on the western bank of the river which is now called the Great Ouse.  It was occupied during Neolithic (4,000 - 1,500BC) and Bronze Age (1,500 - 500BC) times. By Iron Age times (500 - 55BC) two new settlements had sprung up on the western side of the river and the first on the eastern side. This was just to the south of Hen Brook, a tributary of the Great Ouse. This settlement expanded considerably in Roman times (55BC - 400AD) to the north and west of the brook. 

During Anglo-Saxon times there was a small settlement on the north banks of Hen Brook. The early records give its name as Ainulph's bury, Elnophebiry Ernulph's-bury, or Ernulph's borough. Who was this man? I met with even more confusion as it was a popular Saxon and Norman name varyingly spelt as Ernulf, Ernulph, Ernulfus. Ernulphus, Arnulph, Arnulphus, Ainulph and Ainulphus. It must have been one of these that gave his name to Ernulf Community School? 

The earliest reference I found to a person of that name was a French Bishop from Metz. In Gorham's History of Eynesbury he gave little detail about his life except that he retired to become a hermit and died in 640 AD. He was buried in the Monastery of Remiremont on the Moselle in Lorrain. However, a book on French martyrs stated that, after a holy life, Ernulph died in 740 AD and his remains were brought "to the neighbourhood of Bedford." According to Alford, a Jesuit historian who used the authority of an English Martyrology, Ernulph was a confessor and hermit who gave his name to Eynesbury. There was no indication that he was French but both accounts gave his feast day as 22nd August. 

Gorham mentioned Fuller's Worthies, a book of influential people which included Ernulf in his chapter on Bedfordshire. (Fuller,  Worthies, (1652),  p.115)  It asserted that Ernulf  was "of the royal line of the old Britons." This sounds a rather similar story to Neot. So whether Ernulf was a 7th century French bishop whose remains were brought here in 740 or an 8th century Saxon who escaped his royal commitments to become a hermit is uncertain. Gorham thought it more probable that Ernulf was a devout hermit who lived in this area and died about the middle of the 8th century. His memory was venerated by the Saxon inhabitants of the area who erected a shrine at "the favourite spot where he had retired for the purpose of religious meditation." (Gorham, p. 16-19) However, as shall be seen later, there was another Ernulf who may have had a link with the settlement.
Over time the name of the settlement was contracted to Ern's bury or Ain'sbury and spelt by subsequent historians as Ainsbury, Aynesbury and Eynesbury. The residents lived in small, barn-like wooden buildings on the gravel terrace above the flood plain east of what is now Church Street. An L-shaped ditch with an embankment formed a defensive boundary on its northern and western sides with Hen Brook and Fox Brook to the east and south. (Gorham, Rev. G.C. (1820), History of Eynesbury and St Neots, London, pp.16-17; Tebbutt, C.F. (1978), 'St. Neots - History of a Huntingdonshire Town', Phillimore, p.7) 

The Great Ouse was a navigable river averaging 150 feet wide as it flowed through the town. Shallow-draught boats could reach as far upstream as Bedford. This facilitated the trade of cereals, timber, wine, iron, coal and stone up the Ouse to Bedford and downstream to King’s Lynn, the Wash and the North Sea coast. It also supplied the residents with fresh fish for Fridays and Lent. They included pike, perch, bream, chub, roach, dace, gudgeon, bleak, eels and cray fish. Stock fish, dried fish flesh, was also brought in. 

When St Neot's Castle was first built is uncertain but it was occupied in Anglo-Saxon times. Its location beside the river allowed troops to control river traffic. It is thought that an iron chain  was laid across the bed of the river and then pulled tight and fastened to strong posts on either side. This was to stop river traffic until the boat captain paid the appropriate toll. Then the chain was lowered allowing it to pass. 

Whether the village was ransacked during the Danish occupation of this area is unknown. Certainly their boats would have passed through the town. Their troops erected a wooden stronghold called Cannock’s Castle at Tempsford, a few miles south of the town, where they could control the river traffic at the confluence of the Great Ouse and the River Ivel. 

There are conflicting reports on the origin of the priory. In C.F. Tebbutt’s History of St Neots he records how Leofric, a Saxon landowner in the parish of Ernulph's bury, and Leoflaed, his wife, established a religious house on open land to the northwest of the village. It is thought to have been between 972 -977. The building was constructed west of the village on another gravel terrace just north of the ford. The Cambridgeshire County Archaeology team's Sites and Monument Record shows an Anglo-Saxon religious site. (SMR 548)  It is likely that this was the site of the shrine to Ernulf as no other religious site is marked on the map. The priory is said to have been constructed on an existing religious site and completed between 979 and 984. It is likely that this was Leofric and Leoflaed's religious house which was probably built on  Ernulf's shrine given the long tradition of erecting religious buildings on the site of existing shrines. 

The Conventual Chapel was dedicated shortly afterwards. In Marjorie Chibnall’s history of the priory she refers to a Saxon charter which detailed those present at the dedication of the church. At the service Leofric, a man devoted to God, and his wife Leoflaed, begged Aethelwold, the Bishop of Winchester, and Brithnoth, the first abbot of Ely to send monks from Ely and Thorney to Ernulph's bury. They publicly begged them to guide and counsel these monks for the love of God and holy religion as they would their own monks and to ensure that they follow the dictates of their rule. They also requested that the place should always be subject to the abbot of Ely and his successors and that the prior of the house should be chosen from the monastery of Ely. Should one of their own number be found worthy of office, then they wanted him appointed with the counsel and consent of the brethren at Ely. 

Depending upon which source one reads those present at the dedication included Ethelwolde (Aethelwold), Brithnoth (Brihtnod), Escwin (Aescwig), Bishop of Lincoln, Abbot of Ely, Duke Ailwyn, ealdorman Aethelwine, Aedric (Eadric) Pope, Aedelm (Aelfhelm) Polga and many others. A Charter was written up and three copies made. Bishop Aescwig kept one, Bishop Aethelwold another and the third was kept at the priory. A number of monks from the order of St Benedict were sent from Ely and Thorney Abbey. It has been suggested that there were eighteen as Earl Alric (Aylric) gave them eighteen hides of land, enough for about eighteen households. Two of these were in Ernulph's bury, six in Waresley and nine in Gamlingay. The location of the other one was not stated. There was no mention of any connection with St Neot at this time. (Pearce, op.cit p.5; Chibnall, op.cit. p.68; Stevenson, pp. 298-9)

The names of the founders are in some doubt. Another source claims them to have been Earl Alric and his wife, Elfleda. This came from the valuation of the priory made during the Reformation in 1534. It stated that alms had been given for the repose of their souls as founders. This gap in time may account for the confusion between them and Leofric and Leoflaed. Chibnall suggests that they may have been inaccurately copied. In Pearce’s account they were written as Earl Alric, who she described as a powerful Huntingdonshire nobleman, and Ethelfleda his wife. In 974 they 

“founded and endowed a Priory at Eynesbury which was to be subordinate to the recently established Monastery at Ely. Brithnod, the first Abbot of the Monastery of Ely, became very interested in the founding of a daughter monastery at Eynesbury. This interest was reinforced by the influence which Ethelwolde, Bishop of Winchester, brought to bear upon the founding of the Priory, and the sanction of the reigning Monarch, King Edgar, immediately followed. Yet, with all this in favour of the Priory being established, one very important thing was lacking - a Patron Saint to venerate this new Priory at Eynesbury, and to give it popularity and prestige: but this lack was not for long! A saint stealing quartet of Nobleman, Abbot, Bishop and King found no difficulty in removing the bones of St Neot from their sacred deposit in the Chapel of Neot-Stoke in Cornwall”.  

(Pearce, op.cit. p.4)

Stealing relics was a common occurrence in medieval times. Pilgrims visiting shrines, hoping to be cured of illness or of having their sins forgiven, made generous donations to the keepers of the shrine. Relics were a big money spinner and many “grave-robbers” claimed that God had told them to take saints’ remains. One version has it that Leofric sent an emissary to Cornwall with a large sum of money with which to bribe the custodian of St Neot's shrine. He was then supposed to have spirited away the relics by night and carried then back to Leofric. (Young, R. op.cit. p. 17) 

According to another legend the townsmen of Eynesbury wanted to pilfer some body parts to raise the profile of their new priory, which carried very little ecclesiastical weight without relics.  A gang of men were sent to Cornwall to rustle the saint's relics. King Edgar was said to have provided troops to protect the party from the angry Cornishmen. (Young, R. op.cit.)

Another story has it that Neot's spirit appeared to the warden of his shrine and told him to take his remains as a gift to a priory in Huntingdonshire. Pearce dates the event of their removal as the night of November 30th (St. Andrew’s Day). The warden is supposed to have dug up the bones and spent a week walking the 230 miles through terrible wintry weather carrying his precious bundle to Eynesbury. One source has it that one of his arms was left in Cornwall. (Farmer, D.H. (1987), 'Oxford Dictionary of Saints', OUP, p. 313) He was said to have arrived in Eynesbury on December 7th 974. 

“The Warden went immediately to the residence of Earl Alric where he was greeted as a very welcome guest.  No sooner had the remains been safely deposited in the Nobleman’s home than he raised over them a chapel, he then converted the palace of Earl Elfrid into a monastery which he dedicated to the saint…. In honour of the saint the name of this part of Eynesbury was changed to Neotsbury.” 

(Pearce, op.cit. p.4)

It is said that the St Neot's Cross was a tall, wooden crucifix erected on the spot where Neot's body rested when it first arrived in the village. It stood in a large, hollowed-out stone base on the north-west corner of the Saxon village at the junction of what was set out as St Mary’s Street, Cambridge Street, Huntingdon Street and the High Street. This cross-shaped street layout was supposed to reflect the sanctity of the town.  When the cross eventually rotted away is unknown but the stone base or “stoop” was taken to St. Mary’s Church in Eynesbury where it has since been used for holy water and baptismal font by the porch door. 

According to Gorham, when the inhabitants of Neot-Stoke discovered that the warden was missing and suspected something they flocked to the shrine to inspect the sacred chest. 

"On finding that their valuable treasure was gone they were filled with self-reproach at their own carelessness, and with indignation at the infidelity of their servant. Having armed themselves with such weapons as they could procure, they sought the fugitive among the neighbouring woods, hills and valleys; after much waste of time and fruitless labour, having obtained information respecting the road by which he had fled, a party of inhabitants traced him to Eynesbury."

(Gorham, op.cit. p.51)

When they arrived at Earl Alric’s palace their request for their saint's safe return was turned down. They turned to bribes and threats but these too were ignored. When they expressed that they were prepared to use violence to get them back there are conflicting versions as to what happened next. One version was that the Bishop of Ely ordered an armed gang to repel them. Gorham’s version was that King Edgar intervened. Maybe it was at the Bishop and Alric’s request. The King is said to have sent an armed force to Eynesbury “to drive the Cornish-men out of the village and put them to the sword in case of resistance.” A battle was reported to have ensued and Huntingdonshire soil was said to have been stained with Cornish blood. (Edwards, K. ‘Rest in peace’, front page article in St Neots Evening News, October 14th 1999) The battle  was not mentioned by Gorham or Pearce but Neot’s relics stayed in the Priory. 

The “official version” given by the King, Bishop, Abbot and Earl to justify the use of violence to keep the relics was

“as a token of His anger at the sins of the people of Neot-Stoke (whom He had deprived of a treasure they were unworthy to possess) and a mark of appreciation of his Confessor Neot, in appointing him a second and more splendid Shrine! Thus was the modest veil of piety thrown over an act distinguished by superstition and fraud.” 

(Gorham, op.cit p.51)

The Cornish version of the event came from some pre-Reformation doggerel verse found preserved on a board in the memorial in St Neot's church. It suggests that the Danish invasion forced Neot to take refuge in Ainsbury and that his stay was commemorated by the village's name being changed in his honour. This seems hardly likely given that this area was already under the Danelaw, the area controlled by the Danes. 

Inscription over the Cenotaph of St Neot

Hic olim noti jacuere relicta Neoti, Tempus in hac fossa carne cosumptit et ossa;

Nune praeter cineres nil superesse vides Nomen perpetuum Sancte Neote tuum.

Consuming time Neotus' flesh and bones to dust translated: 

A sacred tomb this dust enclosed  which now is ruinated;

Tho' flesh, and bones, and dust, and tomb, through tract of time be rotten,

Yet Neot's fame remains with us which ne're shall be forgotten: 

Whose father was a Saxon King St Dunstan was his teacher;

In famous Oxford he was eke the first professed preacher

That there in Schools by quaintest terms he sacred themes expounded,

Which Schools, by his advice, the good King Alfred well had founded.

But in those days the furious Danes the Saxons' peace molested,

And Neot forced was to leave that place so much infested.

With hostile spoils then Ainsbury his place of refuge was,

Within the shire of Huntington, where since it came to pass

That for his sake  the place from him, doth take its comon name,

The vulgar call it now St Need's, their market town of fame:

Their affric built a Monastery, to Neot t'was behested,

And Rosy wife to the Erle of Clare, with means the same invested

For maintenance in after time, where long he did not stay,

But thence, enforced by furious Danes he  forward took his way 

To Guerrier's Stoke for his repose, this place, so called of yore,

But now best known by Neot's  name, more famous than before;

For why? A college here of clerks he had whose fame increased. -

When as his corpse was clad in clay and he from hence deceased:

Some say his bones were carried hence St. Need's will have it so,

Which claims the grace of Neot's tomb but hereto we say no.

NEOTUS FLOURIT ANNO DOMINI 896

(Quoted in Gorham, p. 339-40)

Earl Alric paid for a chapel to be erected over the relics. Apart from the bones there were also some of his personal belongings. John Leland who was travelling round England in 1536 claimed that when he visited St Neots he saw the Irish-style hair vest worn by Neot and his comb. The comb was ‘made of little bones of two fingers' width, into which were inserted small fishes' teeth, the whole having the appearance of a pike's jaw.’ (Leland, Collectanea, Vol. III, p.11; Gorham, p. 92; Farmer, D.H. op.cit. p. 313)

 It was common practice for small relics to be placed in a lidded, square hole cut into the middle of the top altar stone. The Communion service was celebrated over them with the priest bending over to kiss the altar top. Sometimes a gold or silver jewelled box called a reliquary was used to display them. Often on the saint’s feast day, in this case July 31st, their relics were taken in procession around the church and sometimes outside. It would also have been common for the congregation to come forward and kiss the reliquary. Given that all Neot’s  remains were supposed to have been brought here, it is most likely that they were placed in a casket and placed in full view in the sanctuary.    

When Neotsbury changed to being called St Neots is thought to have been once the relics were in place and this could have been in 975, the last year of King Edgar’s reign. Shortly before he died he completed the administration of justice in a hundred boroughs and shires. The parish was known as St Neots when Lucius III was Pope in 1179. It was during his term in office that the third Lateran Council established many of England’s parishes. (Pearce, op.cit. p.7)  The shrine was sufficiently important to have been included in the 11th and 12th century saint's lists. (Farmer, D.H. (1987), 'Oxford Dictionary of Saints', OUP, p. 313; R.P.S. and C.S.P.)

In 992 Ailwyn, Alderman or Duke of the East Angles, was the Patron of the Priory. The Abbots of Ely, Thorney and Peterborough had agreed to protect it but this did not prevent an attack on St Neots during a Danish invasion. This was in 1003 in retaliation for King Ethelred’s massacre of their countrymen. Lewina (Leviova or Leofgiva), thought to be the daughter of Leofric and Leoflaed and owner of a lot of property in the area, feared for the safety of the relics. According to Whitaker

"Lewina, lady of Encloesbiri, fearing the hostility of the barbarians, and influenced by love of her brother, carried the reliques of Saint Neot to the monastery of Crouland, over which her brother Osketell presided, as appears openly written in the same monastery. Whence afterwards, when some of the brethren doubted upon the point, not withstanding this decisive testimony on paper, the abbot, having the tapers lighted with much devoutness, broke open the coffin with much awe, and found the scull, the collar bones, the shoulder-blades, some bones of the thorax, with the bones of the legs and thighs. For then the abovementioned lady had brought with her, some bones being left with ashes behind in their former place at Aynesbury. But those bones were now transferred to another place, in Croyland church by Abbot Henry and redeposited close by the altar built in honour of St Neot, under the year of our Lord 1213."

(Whitaker, op.cit. p.277)

This probably saved them as the Danes are said to have burnt the Priory down in 1010. It is thought that one of the three copies of the Charter was lost at the same time. (Gorham, op.cit. p.57-61; Pearce, op.cit p.6; Tebbutt, op.cit. p.8; Chibnall, op.cit. p.69) 

In Gorham's history he claimed that the missing arm, presumed by some to have been left in Cornwall, had been kept in Crowland as Neot was one of the principal saints venerated at the Abbey. His spirit lived on as towards the end of the 11th century Abbot Ingulph mentions "the fire" which burned before the altar "of Neot" and in the middle of the 12th century William of Malmsbury speaks of "Neot uniting his shield to that of Guthlac for the protection of the natives." (Gorham, op.cit. p. 59) 

After the Danes were finally defeated, the priory was rebuilt and the relics returned. However, the days of the Saxons were numbered. Following their defeat during the Norman Conquest of 1066 the manor of Eynesbury was siezed by Gilbert Earl of Owe (de Clare?) who violently expelled the Ely monks. This was thought to be in revenge for them offering resistance to the Conqueror. Three Saxon monks obstinately refused to leave, despite being whipped and starved. The angry earl had them sent back to the Abbey of Bec-Hellouin in Normandy, with the order to have them kept in perpetual confinement beyond the Channel. (Ibid. p. 61)

Gilbert's son, Richard de Clare, who also owned land in Suffolk inherited the land. It was Richard's wife, Rohais, who refounded the monastery with the assistance of Benedictine monks from Bec monastery in Normandy. This was built in 1060 and quickly became one of northern Europe’s leading intellectual and cultural centres. Its first abbot was Lanfranc who William the Conqueror  subsequently appointed as his first Archbishop of Canterbury. The monks at the Priory were given the rights to some of the tithes, 10% of the peasants' annual produce. 

When the Normans took control of Cornwall the Brethren of Neot-Stoke had their lands seized by the Earl of Morton leaving the priest with no more than a single acre. From that time on no more was heard of the community but it is thought to have been suppressed shortly afterwards. (Gorham, op.cit. p.46)

Lanfranc stablished an abbey of Benedictine monks beside Canterbury Cathedral and brought over one of the monks from Bec to teach Latin. His name was Ernulf. Whilst at Canterbury Ernulf taught Latin to the children, novices and monks, in particular Priscian grammar. They learned Virgil and read the classics of the Christian fathers including the Letters of Jerome and Gregory the Great's Moralia. Having studied under Archbishop Anselm he was considered an excellent choice as Henry's successor  as prior in about 1096. (O'Connor, B. (2001), 'Who was Ernulf?')

His principal monument is the Norman Library. Here the monks could read the Bible and works of Augustine, Jerome, Ambrose, Gregory the Great, Bede, Anselm and others. It also included a scriptorium, where the monks prepared and ruled parchment onto which they meticulously transcribed, illustrated and bound ancient and modern texts. It was the custom that at the beginning of Lent the monks exchanged books between their communities. Ernulf began an interchange of books between the abbey and St Augustine's Abbey in Canterbury. 

Sometime during his lifetime he gave name to what has become known as Ernulph's curse. What the background to the event was has yet to come to light. One website included an article on it from the Lancet which provided some insight.

"The need to protect books from thieves and defilers (from biblioklepts and biblioclasts) is ancient indeed. A thousand years ago the making of a manuscript book was a time-consuming, back-breaking task. Sitting in the exposed archway of a monastery, huddled over a sheet of vellum on his knee, the scribe worked 6 hours a day, 6 days a week for at least 6 months to make even the simplest of books. Accuracy was paramount; any error was considered a great sin since the mutated form would be reproduced in any subsequent copies.

Substantial sums were required as pledge that a book borrowed for copying would be returned, and often a second copy was required as payment for the loan. To copy without permission was to be guilty of the Roman crime of slave-stealing or plagium (from which we get plagiarism). St Columba, Irish apostle to the Scots, is reputed to have copied, without permission, a rare and beautiful manuscript belonging to his teacher, Finian of Moville. When Finian demanded both original and copy, Columba refused. The case came before Diarmit, King of Meath, who decided in Finian's favour, and Columba left Ireland for exile on Iona.

The invocation of prayerful protection for books is probably as old as writing itself. A pious Christian scribe would begin his manuscript with an inconspicuous Xb, an abbreviation for Christe benedic ("May Christ bless [my work]") and when, at last, he had finished he wrote Explicit, short for Explicitus liber est ("The book is finished"). If a blank space remained he might append a brief orison, a lament, a sigh of relief, the oldest of which says "Three fingers hold the pen but the whole body labours".

When scribes realised that their precious work might fall into the hands of greasy-fingered semi-barbarians, they began to issue instructions such as "Please wash your hands before reading this" or "Don't put your hands on the page". And eventually scribes and book owners began to invoke the wrath of the Almighty on would-be book stealers. Marc Drogin has collected many of these early book curses. Examples are given in the figure.

Osler chose as his own the grandfather of all curses, that of Ernulphus. Ernulf was a gentle, scholarly English cleric who was consecrated Bishop of Rochester at the cathedral of St Andrew in 1114. Ernulf (1040-1124), a survivor of the Norman Conquest, preserved in the Codex Roffensis the rites and rituals of Anglo-Saxon Christianity. The rite of excommunication and damnation was already old when Ernulf wrote it down. Lawrence Sterne used the curse whole in Tristram Shandy. In the passage in question Dr Slop (a vicious and, according to Osler, unfair caricature of John Burton, the "man-midwife" of York) is commissioned by Tristram's father to perform a caesarean section and thereby spare the nas- cent Tristram's delicate brain. Slop cuts his finger trying to open with his penknife the knot tied in his obstetrical bag by the servant Obadiah. Slop then invokes on Obadiah Ernulphus' all-encompassing curse, and I quote largely from Sterne's rendition. Think of this the next time you are tempted to steal a book:

"By the authority of God Almighty, the Father, the Son, and Holy Ghost, and of the holy canons, and of the undefiled Virgin Mary, mother and patroness of our Saviour . . . ", and so on for several more lines of introduction. "We excommunicate and anathematise this malefactor, and from the thresholds of the holy church of God we sequester him, that he may be tormented, disposed and delivered over with Dathan and Abiram, and with those who say unto the Lord God, Depart from us, we desire none of thy ways. And as fire is quenched with water, so let the light of him be put out for evermore, unless it shall repent him and make satisfaction . . ."

Then Ernulf again invites, again at great length, the whole holy company to curse the appointed one thus:

"May he be damn'd wherever he may be (whether in the house or the stables, the garden or the field, or the highway, or in the path or in the wood, or in the water, or in the church). May he be cursed in living, in dying. May he be cursed in eating and drinking, in being hungry, in being thirsty, in fasting, in sleeping, in slumbering, in walking, in standing, in lying, in working, in resting, in pissing, in shitting, and in blood letting. May he be cursed in all the faculties of his body. May he be cursed inwardly and outwardly. May he be cursed in the hair of his head. May he be cursed in his brains, and in his vertex, in his temples, in his forehead, in ears, in his eye-brows, in his cheeks, in his jaw-bones, in his nostrils . . . from the top of his head to the sole of his foot . . . unless he repent and make satisfaction."

(www.findarticles.com/cf_0/m0833/n9086_v350/20013577/p2/article.jhtml
Sterne, L. Tristram Shandy. Bk III, chs x, xi; www.xrefer.com/entry/370230)

Whether he had studied architecture in France is not known but he became recognised for his work during the extensive church and cathedral building programme set up by the new Norman overlords. While at Canterbury, he had the eastern part of the church, which Lanfranc had built, taken down. A far more magnificent structure replaced it. He oversaw the finishing of the Choir and the chapel of St. Andrew is said to be part of his work. The famous crypt (Our Lady of the Undercroft) and Trinity Tower were also built during his time and the work on the chancel was finished by his successor Conrad. 

During his time at Rochester he is claimed to have granted the monks a special share of the money paid to the abbey by visiting priests who came to buy chrism or attend diocesan synods. The money was to be spent on building and maintaining their offices.  

At one of the King's Council meetings in London in 1107 many ecclesiastical dignitaries were promoted. Ernulf was amongst them. According to Gunton's History of the Church of Peterborough 

"Ernulfus was offered to the Monks of Peterburgh  for their Abbot, and they willingly accepted of him, knowing him to be both a pious, and prudent man. Whilft he was Prior of Canterbury, the bufinefs concerning the marriage of Priefts was haftily agitated, and Aanselme the then Archbifhop was ftongly for the negative, writing Letters to this Ernulfus, which are to be feen in Mr Fox his Acts and Monuments. Whilft Ernulfus was Abbot here, all things went happily with the Monastery, Ernulfus promoting the good thereof by the King's favour, which he had in plentiful meafure. He built the new Dormitory, the Neceffary, and finifhed the Chapter-houfe which was began before he made an agreement betwixt his Convent, and thofe Knights who held Lands of his Abby, that every Knight fhould pay yearly to the Sacrifty two parts of his Tythes, and at his death, the third part of his whole Eftate, for his burial in the Church, all his Knightly endowments, as well Horfes, as Armes, being to be brought with his body, and offer'd up to S. Peter: the Convent to to receive the Corps with proceffiion, and to perform the office for the dead. In the time of this Ernulfus Anno 1112. was the Church of Thirlby, near Bourn in Lincolnfhire, dedicated  by Robert Bloet then Bifhop of Lincoln; which Church, with the Mannor belonged then to this Monastery of Peterburgh. Abbot Ernulfus was tranflated from this his government in his feventh year Anno 1114. For King Henry being to pafs over the Sea, and wanting for a wind at Bourn, he fent to Peterburgh for Ernulfus to come unto him to confult about weighty Affairs, he being the King's Confeffor; but being come, the King with Raulphus (fo our Peterburgh writers call him, but Bifhop Godwin Rodolphus) the Archbifhop of Canterbury importuned him to take upon him the Bifhoprick of Rochefter, which Ernulfus did, though much againft his will, the Monks alfo taking it very heavily, wept for the lofs of their Abbot. Ernulfus being Bishop of Rocheftor wrote a Book in answer to certain queftions propounded by Lambertus Abbot of S. Bertine, as alfo another book of inceftous Marriages, although Pitfeus makes no mention of him. Ernulfus being thus removed, the King gave his Monaftery to Johannes de Sais or John of Salisbury.
(Gunton, (1686), History of the Church of Peterborough pp.20-21)

If this was the Ernulf after whom the school is named then there ought to have been some evidence of Eynesbury's connection with the monastery. The archivist at Peterborough Cathedral was unable to find any link but there would probably have been some as the monks at St Neot's Priory had come from the same abbey as Ernulf. 

Whilst at Rochester Ernulf introduced a programme of building improvements similar to those at Canterbury 

"he raifed fo fplendidly, that nothing like it could be feen in England; both for the light of the glafs Windows, and the brightnefs of the marble pavement, and the variey of Pictures in the Roof of the Church…. He began the Refectory, and did many other good things, (faith Hugo) in that feven years wherein he governed."

(Ibid. p. 270) 

Many of  the old buildings were torn down and, as well as the refectory, new dormitories,  a chapter house and other buildings were constructed. (Flight, C. p.153) 
In September 1114 it is said that he had a dream in which Gundulph appeared to him and gave him a heavy ring. A few days later Gundulph appointed him as Bishop of Rochester and he was inaugurated on 15th March the following year. It was probably in this role that he got a link with Haddenham, a town about seven miles south-west of Aylesbury, and three from Thame, in Oxfordshire. William the Conqueror had given the manor of Haddenham to Lanfranc, who gave it to Gundulph, the  Bishop of Rochester. On Lanfranc's death it reverted to the crown, and William Rufus, on his accession, demanded £100 for renewing it. This was so exorbitant that the bishop couldn't afford it. Rufus' advisers knew Gundulph was very intelligent and an expert in masonry so they suggested that the manor should be restored to the bishop on condition that he pay for the building of a stone castle at Rochester. 

During his time here Ernulf is reputed to have written "Textus de ecclesia Roffensi, per Ernulpum episcopum". These are a large collection of laws, papal decrees, and documents relating to the church of Rochester. "Collectanea de rebus eccl. Ruffensis" in P.L., CLXIII, 1443 sqq., also of several canonical and theological treatises in D'Achery, "Spicileg.", III, 404 sqq. (Poole, T.H. 'Ernulf', Transcribed by Gerald M. Knight; www.city-of-rochester.co.uk/places_of_interest.htm; www.newadvent.org/cathen/05524b.htm)
In this account he stated that the cost of the castle was £60. After it was completed Rufus granted the manor to the prior and convent of St. Andrew, at Rochester. This was confirmed by King Henry I. (met.open.ac.uk/genuki/big/eng/BKM/Haddenham/Index.html) After ten years as Bishop Ernulf died aged 84 in 1124. He was buried in a crypt at Canterbury Cathedral. It was built partly above ground and lighted by small windows placed in the side walls.  (vrlab.fa.pitt.edu/medart/image/England/canterbury/Cathedral/canter-cath-main.html; www.newadvent.org/cathen/04558a.htm)
After 1078 Anselm took over as abbot of the Bec Monastery and later succeeded Lanfranc as Archbishop of Canterbury. Like Neot he was subsequently raised to sainthood. Appeals were made to the Norman landowners in the area to make donations to rebuild the Priory. The white-robed Benedictine monks arrived with the following introductory letter: 

"Brother Anselm, and Brother Richard the lowly Monk, with the whole congregation of Bec, to their dearest Lord Richard and their dearest Lady Rohais; health, and unfeigned prayers. We render great thanks, first to God, from whom proceeds every good desire, and then to you, for all the benefits which you have bestowed and promised. Thus you have well proved that your regard for our Monastery has not decreased. May the Almighty God, to whom our prayers daily ascend on your behalf, and by whose love you have been influenced in your liberal conduct towards us, reward you abundantly in the Kingdom of heaven. We send our Brethren to you as you desire. They go into England at your request, and under your auspices: be it, therefore, your care to provide for their settlement and maintenance."

(Anselmi Abbatis Becci Epist. Lib. II. 6. Edit. Paris. 1721; quoted in Gorham, op,cit. pp.62-3)

Now with a strongly European background, the new monks at St Neots set about improving their religious settlement. It was on the same site as the Saxon chapel and not far from both the crossing point (ford) of the river and the crossroads of two important routeways  - the main route north from London and the route from Cambridge to Bedford. Other roads from Kimbolton, Bushmead, Godmanchester and Sandy converged at the ford. Stone blocks cut from limestone was brought by boat from Barnack in the north of the county and from Bedfordshire to the southwest to assist the rebuilding.

In time the monks' white habit was changed for the black dress of the mother abbey. One habit practiced by one of their number came to the attention of the authorities. Chibnall gave the names of two of the monks as Henry, a former Bec cellarer and Henry de Gournay. Which was responsible for giving the community a bad name is unknown but Anselm was asked to rebuke him.

"As for Mr Henry, lately the Chamberlain, I hear that he acts disorderly in many things, particularly in drinking; so that in public company he drinks with sottish persons, and is intoxicated. If this be true, I cannot express how my heart mourns over so great a fall of our Brother. As far, therefore, as an Abbot can prohibit a Monk, I forbid him to presume to drink either in any public company, or at sottish meetings. I further enjoin, that he approve the penitence to Archbishop Lanfranc or to Bishop Gondolf, or to you; and that, with the help of God, he carefully abstain from intoxication and from malicious language. If he remain incorrigible, notwithstanding any service which we might derive from him in England, let him return to us for wholesome discipline, rather than be irrecoverably lost for want of seasonable correction."

(Anselmi Abbatis Becci Epist. Lib. II. 7. Edit. Paris. 1721; quoted in Gorham, op,cit. pp.62-3)

It is said that Richard de Clare wanted to replace the Benedictines with canons from the college of John the Baptist in Clare Castle. This sparked Anselm to take more interest in the priory and paid a visit around 1078 when it is said that he inspected Neot's relics and confirmed that they were all there except for one arm. The shrine was sealed and locked and Anselm took the key back to Normandy along with Neot's jawbone. Ever since, the French monks have an annual festival in Neot's honour. Whether is was on July 31st as the Cambridge Biographical Encyclopaedia stated is not known. He is said to have sent about eighteen monks to this daughter chapel in 1080-1081. The tenure of the Prior was for ten or even twenty years which maintained a stable administration. 

The Domesday Book of 1086 only mentioned the Priory as having enough land for three ploughs in Eynesbury worth £4. There was no mention of it holding land in other parishes. The accounts for Gamlingay or Waresley made no mention of the Priory so it has been argued that a lot of its original land had been taken by the Norman overlords. 

St Neots Castle was improved as a motte and bailey, controlling access views up and downstream. Once they had gained control of England the Normans started a long period of church and cathedral building. The Catholic belief at the time was that giving money to the church would help in one’s aim of getting into Heaven. The priest or monks would then pray for the repose of their souls on the anniversary of their death. As a result wealthy Norman landowners donated large gifts of money, land and livings to the Priory. Lady Rohais gave the whole of her manor to the brothers. Other gifts included a small library and some handsome service books including an illuminated Psalter, now in Lambeth Palace. (Tebbutt, op.cit.p.9; Chibnall, op.cit.  pp.70,72) 

The formal dedication of the Priory church was in 1113. However, in 1142 the relics were moved from the old Saxon Chapel to be placed in the foundations of a new Norman Church. When it was finished in 1238 it was duly dedicated to St. Neot. (Chibnall, op.cit. p.70)

During the reign of King Henry I (1100 - 1135) the Prior and Convent were granted a charter to hold a weekly market and three annual fairs. The market has continued on Thursdays ever since. This brought considerable trade and revenue to the town.

There were important visitors who needed accommodation and sustenance. In 1156 the abbot of St Albans and the bishops of Lincoln, London, Durham and Hereford met at the Priory to settle a dispute. Henry II was a frequent visitor and judicial assizes were held there. Market stall holders set up for business every Thursday on about 24,000 square yards of open land on the south side of the road in front of the crossing point. In those days the area close to the river was between two and a half and four feet lower than the present market square. The south wall of the Priory Church and its precinct wall formed its northern boundary and a small row of business premises lined its eastern edge. Open ditches ran along each side of the High Street draining into the river. The Prior allowed small shops and workshops, known as “Shop Row” to be built against the northern walls. The rent was paid to the Priory. The chartered fairs were held the day before, during and after Ascension Day (May 23rd), the imprisonment of St Peter (August 1st) and the feast of St Neot (December 7th). This contradicts the Cambridge Biographical Dictionary that gave his feast day as 31st July. (Gorham, op.cit. p.71; Pearce, op.cit. p. 7; Tebbutt, op.cit. p.10; Chibnall, op.cit. p.71-2; VCH. ‘Huntingdonshire’, vol. i, p.386, vol. ii, p.341) 

According to Chibnall St Neot’s Priory then became one of the largest cells of Bec Abbey in Europe. Its reputation as a place of pilgrimage as well as its key position at the convergence of many routes made it for two hundred years a house of some standing among the moderately sized religious houses in England. (Chibnall, op.cit. p.70) 

With a weekly market St Neots became a thriving religious centre and market town with wharfage facilities beside the river and up Hen Brook. Tebbutt claims that it was one of the most important ports in the country. The trade generated by the market and pilgrims led to the gradual infilling of the western side of the square with soil, gravel and rubbish. Excavations have revealed 14th century pottery beneath the square. Over time there was considerable growth around the square with a cattle market, inns, stabling for horses and workshops and yards for blacksmiths, cartwrights, goldsmiths, fullers, wheelwrights, brewers, coopers, butchers, tanners and other artisans.   

Some of the priors were men of note and all had their own seals. The first, Prior Martin, was appointed abbot of Peterborough in 1132. Prior Hugh was a candidate in the Bury St Edmund election in 1180. He was considered a very religious and astute man in both church and state affairs. Before the siege of Bedford in 1224 William Martel left some treasures with the Prior for safekeeping. They were given to the Crown after his execution. Prior Reginald (1226 - 1230) and Hugh de Fagernum (1230 - 48) put together the monastery’s register. St Neots’ priors strongly resisted attempts by the English Benedictines to impose taxes on them to support their house of studies in Oxford and to adopt different monastic offices. Simon de Montfort summoned the prior to parliament in 1264 to account for the priory's finances. (Chibnall, op.cit. p.71-2)

During the reigns of King Henry II and Richard I the priory was given forests, farms and fisheries that  further added to its wealth. Owning a lot of land in the town and surrounding parishes, the monks received the tithes of agricultural and commercial produce. The monks sold any surplus like meat, cheese, cereals, vegetables, wool and cloth on the market. 

They were given the advowson, permission to appoint the parish priest, in twenty churches in Bedfordshire, Huntingdonshire, Norfolk, Oxfordshire, Wiltshire, Rutland and Warwickshire. As many as twenty-eight Bedfordshire churches came under their control. St Mary’s Church in St Neots gave it a third of its tithes. There also controlled sixteen in Huntingdonshire, seven in Cambridgeshire, four in Northamptonshire, three in Norfolk, three in Suffolk, one each in Essex, Hertfordshire, Rutland and Oxfordshire. They were given five fisheries to provide for their needs every Friday and during the forty days of Lent when they had to abstain from meat. Hugh de Beauchamp gave them the freedom to collect fuel for their kitchens from the woods in Eaton Socon. (Gorham, op.cit. pp. 70-74) This additional revenue was explained by Pearce.

“In a very ancient period it was appropriated on condition that the Priory and the Convent, being situated close to the Great Thoroughfare and celebrated road from London to York, should give meat and drink, for the love of God, to all who should ask them.” 

(Pearce, op.cit p.6)

It needs to be remembers that the church provided for the poor. Anyone could seek refuge in the church and  monasteries, nunneries and religious houses gave food and shelter to those in need. In Rosa Young's account of life in St Neots she states that

"The monks in St Neot's Priory held an ordered life, punctuated by frequent daily services in their church. The first service was Matins at about one-o'clock in the morning and the last one Compline at eight 0'clock in the evening,  with eight other services in between. Their meals were eaten in silence, accompanied by the reading of a religious text by one of the brothers, and any food remaining after meals was distributed to the poor at the priory gate, along with some ale and sometimes money. This distribution was known as the "dole", which means a share, and is the origin of the slang word for unemployment benefit. The monks did very little in the way of work as all menial tasks were performed for them by lay brothers, and their time was spent in prayer and study.

(Young, R. op.cit. p.26)

Little is known of St Neot’s Church except that its bell tower collapsed in 1265 with the loss of many charters. Whether it was repaired immediately is not known. When the first bridge was built over the river is uncertain but  Pearce suggested that, once the Priory had been opened, the monks paid for a wooden construction to replace the difficult river crossing in the 10th century. The ferry and ford would have been difficult to use after heavy rain or snowmelt which would have reduced the trading potential of the market. Tebbutt suggests it was before 1180. The Priory owned land on both sides of the river including “Divers woods whereunto they had passage for their carts and carriages in and by and through the said Bridge.” There were frequent mentions of the bridge in the Cartulary of the Priory during the reign of King Henry III (1216 - 1272).  

Over time, the traders’ rents for the market stalls, the tenants and the parishioner's tithes provided funds for the construction of many buildings around the market square. The rents from these brought in additional revenue for the monks. They also benefited from the “pilgrim“ revenue from visitors who wanted to pray to the relics of St Neot and leave donations. The expansion of this settlement in the parish of Eynesbury eventually led to it being given its own parish. A new parish church was built to the southeast of the market square and dedicated to St Mary. As the town grew larger it was decided in the 15th century to pull it down and construct a larger one constructed on the same site. (Tebbutt, op.cit. p.10)

The Hundred Years War saw the decline of importance of the Priory’s connection with France. In 1244 Henry III commanded the Sheriff of Huntingdonshire in a writ to restore the Priory which he had seized in the King's name. In 1294, when King Edward I was at war, he had the monks moved out to Turvey where they were given a small allowance. He suspected that they were spying on the boats using the river and supplying information to the enemy. He demanded Prior Farm valued at £150 and it was not returned until 1303. Between 1324 - 7 it was confiscated and not restored until 1361.  Nine years later it was back in the King's hands! (Chibnall, op.cit.p.73; Gorham, p.83). 

There were further references to the Priory during King Edward III’s reign (1327 - 1377) when it was taxed for bridge repairs. In 1378 three monks were allowed to return to France and Prior William of St Vaast also took on the offices of proctor of Ogbourne. Henry IV restored the priory's possessions in 1399. In 1402 the prior was ordered to report his charter to the barons of the Exchequer but he replied that the original was missing and the only other was the Norman charter. 

Five years after William’s death in 1404 the king presented Edward Salisbury as the first English prior at St Neots. Its links with France were severed and it became an independent religious house, electing its own prior and drawing English monks from the surrounding area. The reasons for giving it independence were that Divine Services had been neglected, the establishment was in danger of being subverted by mal-administration and unworthy behaviour of some earlier Priors. It also had immense debts. (Pearce, op.cit. p.7; Tebbutt, op.cit. p.10; Chibnall, op.cit. p.73; Gorham, p.84)

Henry V was asked in 1414 to confirm his father's wishes for the Priory and to "cause them to be enacted and enrolled in due form in the Roll of Parliament, for the honour of God and as a work of charity." After petitions in both houses it obtained the Royal Assent. (Parl. Rolls, Tower, 2 hen. V. p.2.m.9 (App.XI); quoted in Gorham, p.85) 

When Bishop Gray visited in 1432 he found serious disrepair and a few monks with lax discipline. A door leading to the town was always open and people were free to come and go. There was no servant’s hall, no proper guesthouse and all kinds of secular people were eating in the dining room with the monks. He ordered them to eat in the hall by the Prior’s house until changes were introduced. The bell-tower needed repairs. Two small bells were ordered to be rung in the cloister and at mealtimes. 

When Bishop Alnwick visited in 1439 things had not improved. There was still no separate dining room for visitors. The bell-tower had not been repaired and the chapel roof leaked. There was also a gap in the south wall allowing ordinary people access. (Chibnall, op.cit. p.73-4; Hamilton Thompson, A. (Ed.), (1929), ‘Visitations of Religious Houses’, Lincoln Record Society, vol. 21, pp.320-7)

Some improvements were made over the next century. The monks were allowed to build shops for let on old cemetery land to the north of the Market Square. Increased rents generated greater income. A visit in 1507 showed some improvements but several irregularities were noticed in its rule. Chibnall described it more as a comfortable club for the eight or nine monks than a Benedictine monastery. 

Hen Brook was deepened and straightened as far as Eynesbury Bridge and medieval merchants erected houses and workshops on its banks on the south side of the square. These date from the 15th and 16th centuries

Numbers increased to thirteen by 1530 by which time the comment of the bishop was that all was well. In 1534, following Henry VIII’s Act of Supremacy when he made himself the Head of the Church of England, he had the monasteries and religious houses closed down. In 1339 numbers had dropped to twelve when the Priory was surrendered to the King. Presumably with the threat of being hung, drawn and quartered they all signed the acknowledgement of the King's Supremacy. It is worth noting their surnames: - John Raunds, Richard Staughton, Thomas Staughton, Richard Rawnds, John Wintringham, Richard Newbold, Robert Neot, William Barford, William London, John Artylborough, Edmund Cambridge and Robert Gamlingay. (Gorham, p.79-80) 

According to Chibnall, Prior John Raunds and seven monks stayed on,  espousing the new Church of England and receiving pensions in return. Much of the Priory is reported to have been demolished in 1542 when the Crown gave the land to Sir Richard Cromwell of Huntingdon. He was the son of Oliver Cromwell, the Lord Protector, from whom he inherited the title for a short time. The Priory then covered 49 acres. The farm was 364 acres and lands at Hardwick covered a further 672 acres. It was valued at £233 15s. 8½d and included alms for prayers for the soul of its first founder, Earl Aylric and his wife Elfleda. (Gorham, p. 186; Chibnall, M. op.cit. p.68, 74) 

Part of the tithes that were traditionally paid to the Priory consisting of wool and lambs were given to princess Elizabeth. When she became Queen she gave them to the Bishop of Ely in 1600 when they were valued at £3 6s. 8d. (Gorham, p.188)

The Church, dormitory, Frater Hall (refectory) and the storeroom called the Buttery were left. The cut stones, timbers and other usable building material were carted off to build local premises.  Many of the Cambridge Colleges are said to have constructed new buildings out of these materials. Gorham suggested that the ruins were used a stone quarry to replace the 704 feet wide bridge over the Great Ouse. It had seventy-two arches, forty-three were entirely timber and twenty-nine were wooden frames supported by stone abutments. The new bridge was built in 1589. The columns of the southwest gate whose pointed arch formed the entrance to the porter's lodge, were not taken down until 1814. (Gorham, op.cit. pp.89-90, 142; Pearce op.cit. p.6) The museums of the Cambridge Colleges are reported to have many “treasures” that were “removed” during the Reformation.

The only remaining evidence of the monastery are five oak panels. The first depicts a wandering monk holding a purse in his right hand. The second is a woman dressed in finery with a sword in her right hand, its point resting on the ground. She may represent Leoflaed, Elfleda or Rohais, the founders and benefactors. The third seems to represent a warrior, possibly St Michael, wearing a crucifix round his neck, holding a sword in his right hand and having a pair of scales on his left shoulder. The fourth is wearing almost the same clothing as the third but wearing a rosary round his neck and a scorpion on his cap or helmet. Gorham suggested that the middle three represented Virgo, Libra and Scorpio, part of the signs of the Zodiac found a lot in medieval Catholic chuches. (Gorham, op.cit. p. 91) Their whereabouts today is unknown. 

The Cromwell family that “acquired” the Priory’s land held it until the 17th century. It then passed through the hands of Edmond Anderson, Sir Stephen Anderson during the reign of Charles II, Charles Anderson Pelham and afterwards Lord Yarborough. It was purchased in 1793 by O. Rowley whose family built Priory Hill. Part of the estate was sold in 1812 to the Earl of Sandwich of Northamptonshire. They all benefited  from the revenue of the market and Market Square until the 19th century. The Sandwich family remained as Lords of Manor until 1848 when they sold the manor, market and Manor Farm to the Rowleys of Priory Park. (Gorham, p. 186-7)

Prior to Whitaker publishing his book on St Neot he visit the church of St Neot in Cornwall. In 1795, stimulated by his interest, the small recess from which projected an 18 inch by 14 inch casket of St Neot's bones was broken open by some intoxicated workmen. They found it to be a shallow cenotaph behind which was a stone which hid a small opening. On examining it they found "about a quart of a mould earth, very fine in itself, yet adhering in clots, and dark in colour."  By the side was a wooden tablet on which was written the  verses quoted earlier. (Gorham, op.cit. p.256)

Today there is no evidence today of the Priory or Prior Farm. Priory Road, Priory Park, Priory Mall, Priory Junior School and the Priory Centre are the only reminders of the town’s religious building. It wasn’t until 1999 that an attempt was made to resolve the problem with Cornwall. Following an April Fool's joke in which St Neot's bones were supposed to have been found in the market square a delegation from St Neots, led by Mayor Christine Colbert, her consort Chris Howes and the St Neots' Museum  curator, Carol Moon, visited Cornwall on October 23-24th with an apology for stealing the bones.  

Priors of the Convent of St Neot (with documented dates)

Martin de Vecti  (Martin de Bec) 1132

Herbert 1159, 1173 

Galfrid 1199, 1204

William 1206, 1210

Roger  1218, 1223

Reginald 1226, 1237

Hugh de Fagernum (Hugh de Fagerton) 1243

Henry de Messville 1248

William de Bonesbor 1258

Elyas de Ponte-Episcopi (Elyas de Bishop's-Bridge) 1262

Henry 1264

Walter

Thomas de Bensenal 1275

John de Bosco-Reynoldi 1285, 1292

John de Sicca-Valle 1292

Galfrid 1317

Clement 1327

Peter de Falco 1341

William de Bello-Monte (William Beaumont) 1349

Galfrid de Branville 1352

Peter de Villaribus 1353

Christian de Troarno 1364

Robert de Glanville 1372

William de Saint Vedast 1377, 1399

Edward Salisbury 1405

William 1422

John Eaton 1447

Henry 1459, 1461

William Eynesbury  1464, 1486

Thomas Rawnds 1490, 1507

John Rawnds 1508, 1512, 1539 

(Gorham, pp.92-97)
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